
JOURNAL OF POLICE COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS 

Civic Center, 2 Park Drive South, Gibson Room 212 

August 24th , 2021 - - 1:30 PM 
 

 

Page 1 of 6 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER: 1:30 PM                                                            

 

ROLL CALL/STAFF INTRODUCTIONS: Police Commission members present: John Hackwith and 

Tim Shanks.  Also present were Lt. Doug Mahlum 

 

 PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS 

 None. 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

1. APPROVE MARCH 26th, 2021 MEETING MINUTES.  

Commissioner Shanks moved, seconded by Commissioner Hackwith to accept the minutes from 

the March 26th, 2021 meeting.   

 

Motion carried 2-0 

 NEW BUSINESS 

1. POLICE COMMISSION’S EXAMINATION OF APPLICANTS:  NOLAN VAUGHAN, 

CHRISTOPHER ARAUJO, AND DALE WILLCOX,FOR THE POLICE FORCE – 

GREAT FALLS POLICE DEPARTMENT. 

 

Lt. Mahlum stated that the applications of Nolan Vaughan, Christopher Araujo, and Dale Willcox 

have been referred to the Police Commission.  Pursuant to Mont. Code Ann.  §7-32-4154, this 

meeting is an examination of the applicants as to their age, legal, mental, moral, and physical 

qualifications and their ability to fill the office as a member of the police force.   

 

Lt. Mahlum read the provisions of Mont. Code Ann. § 7-32-4151, that sets forth the role of the 

Police Commission; reviewed each item provided to the Commission members in their meeting 

packets; and, read the provisions of Mont. Code Ann. § 7-32-303, qualifications of law 

enforcement officers.  He explained that this meeting is for the Police Commission to review the 

documentation, conduct the examination of each applicant, and make a determination as to whether 

each applicant meets the qualifications of a law enforcement officer.     

 

He read the provisions of Mont. Code Ann. § 2-3-203(3).  He asked each applicant’s position with 

regard to right to privacy.  All three applicants asserted their right to privacy. 

 

Lt. Mahlum noted that there is substantial value in having the examination confidential to have a 

frank and open discussion with the applicants and to gain an accurate view of qualifications to 

determine their ability to fill the office as a member of the police force.  Lt. Mahlum determined 

that each applicant’s individual privacy clearly exceeded the merits of public disclosure, and closed 

the meeting for the Commission to conduct each applicant’s examination in executive session. 



JOURNAL OF POLICE COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS 

Civic Center, 2 Park Drive South, Gibson Room 212 

August 24th , 2021 - - 1:30 PM 
 

 

Page 2 of 6 

 

At 1:37 PM members of the Commission and Lt. Mahlum, met in executive session in the Gibson 

Room for the purpose of the Commission conducting the examination of each applicant 

individually, starting with Dale Willcox. 

 

-  -EXECUTIVE SESSION - - 

 

Applicant Dale Willcox 

*Applicant Willcox’s was present through a Zoom Audio/Video Call 

 

Applicant Willcox’s examination began at 1:37 PM.  Commissioner Hackwith began the 

examination apologizing for the Zoom call and asked how big Sandy, OR was.  Willcox responded 

the city was approximately 12,000 people.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith asked Willcox why he wanted to work and live in Great Falls.  Willcox 

responded that his mom had grown up in Fort Shaw, MT and he has an uncle that still lives there.  

He and his family frequently visit the area and they enjoy the culture and generally enjoy their time 

when here in Great Falls.  He further explained they’ve wanted to move out to Great Falls for quite 

some time, but wanted to make sure he was vested in his retirement system in Oregon.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith acknowledged Willcox’s response and stated he could relate.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith asked Willcox about previous work with a Pet store that he had left and 

wanted explanation.  Willcox stated he had left the Pet store at the time he was hired on as a police 

officer by Sandy City, OR.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith asked Willcox what role he felt the Constitution had in his role as a police 

officer.  Willcox responded that he believed the Constitution to be very important and 

acknowledged that it can make policing sometimes difficult, but respecting constitutional rights is 

of most importance and has to be followed.  He further stated that officers must work within the 

invaluable protections of the constitution.   

 

Commissioner Shanks asked Willcox how many officers the Sandy Police Department had and 

Willcox stated they had 18 Sworn police officers.  

 

Commissioner Shanks asked Willcox if Oregon had Traffic Quota laws and Willcox responded 

that they do.  Commissioner Shanks asked if he was expected to be proactive at his police agency 

and Willcox responded that they were expected to be proactive in between calls.  Commissioner 

Shanks explained Montana’s Quota Laws, but also stated Great Falls Officers are still expected to 

be proactive.   

 

Commissioner Shanks noted that Willcox had applied at several agencies previously and ask why 

he wasn’t hired.  Willcox explained the positions he applied for were extremely competitive often 



JOURNAL OF POLICE COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS 

Civic Center, 2 Park Drive South, Gibson Room 212 

August 24th , 2021 - - 1:30 PM 
 

 

Page 3 of 6 

 

times only one or two openings with one hundred to two hundred applicants and he had no previous 

experience.  He then decided to start his law enforcement career as a Reserve Officer.   

 

Commissioner Shanks inquired on how many calls per year Willcox’s agency responded to and 

Willcox stated about 20,000.  Commissioner Shanks explained that the GFPD was extremely busy 

and asked if Willcox thought he’d be able to keep up with the pace.  Willcox stated he believed he 

was suited to keep up with the pace.  

 

Commissioner Shanks asked if Willcox had ever had to use force in his job.  Willcox stated he had 

and is confident in his abilities, but he is also very confident in his de-escalation abilities.  

 

Commissioner Shanks asked if Willcox’s family was supportive of the move to Montana and also 

asked if they would be comfortable with the extreme weather.  Willcox responded that his family 

was supportive and they were looking forward to the weather.  

 

Applicant Willcox’s examination concluded at 1:55 PM.   

 

Lt. Mahlum ended the Zoom call with Applicant Willcox and brought in Applicant Vaughan at 

1:56 PM.   

Commissioner Hackwith began the examination by thanking Applicant Vaughan on his Military 

service.  Commissioner Hackwith asked if Vaughan enjoyed his time as a Missilier and Vaughan 

stated he enjoyed it.  Commissioner Hackwith explained he had been a Civil Air Patrol Cadet and 

thought Missiliers’s had always gotten a bad rap.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith complimented Vaughan’s diverse job history and Vaughan thank him 

stated he’s had a lot of opportunity to other things once out of the Air Force.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith asked Vaughan why he had decided on Montana after being born in 

Texas.  Vaughan stated he had served in the Air Force here in Great Falls and upon separation he 

had an opportunity to work for the Rescue Mission.  He took the job and has been there since.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith asked where Vaughan’s wife was from and he responded they were both 

“transplants” to Great Falls, but she had moved to Great Falls before he had and they met here in 

Great Falls.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith asked Vaughan why he had gotten out of the Air Force and he stated force 

reduction caused him to be forced out.  Commissioner Hackwith stated he had been in the Navy 

for six years and also asked Vaughan what part of the Civil Air Patrol he had been involved in.  

Vaughan stated he had been a Cadet, 1st Sergeant, and Master Sergeant.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith asked why Vaughan had chosen to be in the military.  Vaughan stated he 

was a Freshman in college with September when 9/11 happened and he knew then he’d serve in 



JOURNAL OF POLICE COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS 

Civic Center, 2 Park Drive South, Gibson Room 212 

August 24th , 2021 - - 1:30 PM 
 

 

Page 4 of 6 

 

the Military with hopes to become a police officer.  

 

Commissioner Hackwith asked Vaughan what his response would be if he was given and un-

constitutional order.  Vaughan stated he wouldn’t follow through with the order and would hope 

to have support.  He stated he wouldn’t fall into the bad decision making.  

 

Commissioner Shanks asked about Vaughan’s applications with some Federal law enforcement 

agencies and asked why he hadn’t been hired.  Vaughan stated the positions just weren’t open for 

him and he is thankful the way things had played out for him.  

 

Commissioner Shanks asked if Vaughan had ever been in a fight as it will most likely be required 

at some point as a police officer.  Vaughan stated he hadn’t been in a fight to the level of a knock 

down drag out fight, but has been involved in altercations with out of control youth while working 

at the Rescue Mission.  He stated he would rely on his training to handle himself when force may 

be needed.   

 

Commissioner Shanks asked if he’d have any issues in using deadly force and Vaughan stated it is 

certainly not something he wanted to do, but would do it if needed.   

 

Commissioner Shanks provided a hypothetical to Vaughan asking what he would do if he 

witnessed one of his sergeants stealing something in front of him.  Vaughan stated he would report 

it to a supervisor.  He thought he might ask the sergeant why they had done it, but would absolutely 

report it.   

 

Commissioner Shanks explained to Vaughan that it was expected for GFPD officers to perform 

well at the Academy, and to obtain awards.  Vaughan stated he would provide his best effort while 

at the Academy  

 

Commissioner Shanks brought up hypothetical situations where Vaughan may be forced to take 

law enforcement action on a family member or a co-workers family and asked how he would 

address it.  Vaughan stated he would handle it as any other.  

 

Commissioner Shanks asked Vaughan where he saw himself in five years.  Vaughan stated he’d 

like to serve within the Investigative Services Bureau and later in his career he’d like to have an 

opportunity in shaping the department through leadership.    

 

Applicant Vaughan’s examination concluded at 2:22 PM.  

 

Lt. Mahlum dismissed Applicant Vaughan from the room and brought Applicant Araujo into the 

room at 2:23 PM.   

 

Commissioner Shanks began the examination by asking Araujo why he wanted to leave the 



JOURNAL OF POLICE COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS 

Civic Center, 2 Park Drive South, Gibson Room 212 

August 24th , 2021 - - 1:30 PM 
 

 

Page 5 of 6 

 

Sheriff’s Office for the Police Department.  Araujo stated he had started out as a Detention officer 

and then applied for the PD, but was picked up by the Sheriff’s Office before the PD offered a job.  

He was assigned to the HIDTA Task Force and after working closely with the GFPD and further 

understanding the opportunities and compensation he decided it was best for he and his family to 

try and move to the Police Department.   

 

Commissioner Shanks asked if he was ok with no longer being a Detective.  Araujo stated he really 

enjoyed his time in patrol and looks forward to doing it again.   

 

Commissioner Shanks asked Araujo what was different between the previous Sheriff and the 

current Sheriff.  Araujo stated there’s obvious differences where Sheriff Edwards wasn’t involved 

in street level decisions, but Sheriff Slaughter was very involved in the road decisions.  He stated 

he never had a problem with either, but they were different.  

 

Commissioner Shanks asked if he believed he could handle the call load and Araujo stated he 

believed he would be able to do so.  Araujo added that he’s very thankful he wouldn’t be tasked 

with Coroner duties.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith stated he had contacted Sheriff Slaughter who stated the GFPD was 

getting one of his best guys.  Commissioner Hackwith asked if the money was the driving factor.  

Araujo stated it really wasn’t.  He was mostly looking for more opportunity and support and doesn’t 

do the job for the financial reward.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith asked Araujo what a previous company was that Araujo had worked for, 

Cal-Ranch.  Araujo stated it was a sister company to Big R.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith asked Araujo what had brought him to Montana.  Araujo stated he had 

grown up in Los Angeles and eventually moved with his dad to Salt Lake City, UT and eventually 

to Cedar City, UT.  While working at Sears a co-worker asked him if he’d be interested in a 

Detention job in Great Falls and he took the opportunity.  Araujo stated he and his wife had dated 

while in high school.   After a split for a while they rekindled and ended up in Great Falls together 

and they consider Great Falls home now.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith asked Araujo how the Constitution applies to a Public Trust position.  

Araujo simply stated it is imperative to treat others how you’d like to be treated.   

 

Commissioner Hackwith asked how Araujo would respond if he was given an order that was 

against the Bill of Rights. Araujo stated he wouldn’t follow through with what was asked of him.   

 

Commissioner Shanks asked Araujo where he sees himself with the GFPD in five years.  Araujo 

stated he would like to become a trainer and eventually a supervisor.  He stated he’s excited for the 

opportunity to be involved in shaping the future.   



JOURNAL OF POLICE COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS 

Civic Center, 2 Park Drive South, Gibson Room 212 

August 24th , 2021 - - 1:30 PM 
 

 

Page 6 of 6 

 

Commissioner Shanks urged Araujo to try and experience every position possible.   Araujo 

responded that he hopes to achieve at least twenty years with the GFPD.   

 

Applicant Araujo’s examination concluded at 2:44 PM.  

 

Lt. Mahlum brought Applicant Vaughan back into the room and the meeting reconvened into an 

open meeting in the Gibson Room.  Lt. Mahlum called the meeting back to order at 2:45 PM. 

 

Lt. Mahlum summarized the Commission’s examination of applicants for the police force; that  the 

Commission reviewed the backgrounds of each applicant; and, that Dale Willcox, Nolan Vaughan, 

and Christopher Araujo meet the age, legal, mental, moral and physical qualifications and that they 

are eligible to be members of the Great Falls Police Department. 

 

Commissioner Shanks moved, seconded by Commissioner Hackwith, that the Police 

Commission approve of applicants Dale Willcox, Nolan Vaughan, and Christopher Araujo 

for hiring consideration as members of the Great Falls Police Department. 

 

Lt. Mahlum asked if there was any public comment.  Hearing none, Lt. Mahlum asked if there was 

any further discussion among the Commissioners.   

 

There being no further discussion, Lt. Mahlum called for the vote. 

 

Motion carried 2-0. 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT  

 There being no further business to come before the Commission, Commissioner Shanks moved 

to adjourn, seconded by Commissioner Hackwith, to adjourn the meeting of August 24th 

,2021 at 2:47 PM.   

 

Motion carried 2-0.  

_________________________________ 

                                             Lt. Doug Mahlum, Acting Secretary 

 

Minutes Approved: _______________, 2021 

 

 

Minutes approved 12/13/21 Lt. Doug Mahlum, Acting Secretary 


